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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Martin Arthur Jones, seeks review of the unpublished opinion in In re the 

PRP of Jones, filed July 27, 2021. See Appendix I.  

II. INTRODUCTION  

“[N]o other statement is so much against interest as a confession…...” 

Donnelly v. United States, 228 U.S. 243, 278, 33 S. Ct. 449, 461, 57 L. Ed. 820 

(1913) (Holmes, J, dissenting). Nicholas Boer confessed to his brother Peter 

Boer that he shot Trooper Johnson. Even with this confession, Mr. Jones, who 

denied shooting Trooper Johnson, was charged, tried, and convicted of 

attempted murder. The State’s evidence against Mr. Jones was not compelling.  

The Court of Appeals concluded no jury should ever hear Mr. Boer’s 

confession. This decision violates Mr. Jones’ right to present a defense under 

the Sixth Amendment and Article. 1, Section 22 and is an unreasonable 

application of the controlling precedent in Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 

284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed. 2nd 297 (1973). RAP 13.5A, RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

  

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 Nicholas Boer confessed to his brother that he shot Trooper Johnson. 

Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded it was permissible for a judge to 

prevent Mr. Jones from telling a jury about Mr. Boer’s confession because, in 

the judge’s view, it was “insufficient reliable” to present to a jury?  
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Trooper Johnson was shot and injured during a late-night traffic stop of 

Susan Jones. His assailant escaped without being identified. The tow truck 

driver. George Hill, who responded to the scene after Trooper Johnson made the 

stop  got a look at the person.  He excluded Mr. Jones as the shooter and gave a 

description that did not fit Mr. Jones.  

After the shooting, Trooper Johnson recuperated at OHSU for about 

three days. During this time, he was shown several photographs of potential 

suspects in photomontages, as well as individual photographs. Trooper Johnson 

did not identify the shooter in any of these photos. He began asking to see a 

photo of Susan Jones’ husband, which officers eventually showed him. Trooper 

Johnson identified Mr. Jones as the shooter. State v. Jones, 175 Wn. App. 87, 

93, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013), aff’d in part, rev’d in part, 185 Wn. 2d 412, 372 P.3d 

755 (2016). 

Following Trooper Johnson’s identification, officers arrested Mr. Jones, 

who stated he was at home asleep when the shooting occurred. Police obtained 

warrants to search his home and phone records. The phone records disclosed 

several phone calls exchanged between Jones and his neighbor in the early 

morning hours of February 13, 2010. A search of Mr. Jones’ home uncovered a 

box of .22 caliber Cascade Cartridge, Inc. ammunition manufactured in 1999, 
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which matched the .22 shell casing found at the scene of Trooper Johnson’s 

shooting. Id. at 93–94.  

The government charged Mr. Jones with attempting to murder Trooper 

Johnson. Mr. Jones testified and denied the charge. But the jury convicted him.  

After the trial Jones discovered that Peter Boer told others that his 

brother, Nicholas, admitted he was the person who shot Trooper Johnson, not 

Mr. Jones.  Jones filed a timely PRP based on this newly discovered evidence. 

The Court of Appeals transferred his PRP to the superior court under RAP 

16.11(b) for an evidentiary hearing and a determination on the merits. After an 

evidentiary hearing, the superior court denied Jones's PRP. 

Jones appealed the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by 

the superior court.  He argued that the superior court erred in concluding that the 

statements identifying another potential suspect could be excluded because they 

were inadmissible hearsay and therefore did not support granting relief to Jones. 

The superior court rejected Jones’s argument that the rigid application of the 

hearsay rules violated his state and federal rights to present a defense.1   

                                                
 
1 The Court of Appeals also held Jones could have discovered evidence regarding Peter and 
Nicholas before trial with due diligence because the “police investigated Peter and Nicholas and 
disclosed the information to Jones prior to trial.”  Slip Opinion at 14.  But this is an unwarranted 
conclusion.  Prior to trial there was no evidence that Nicholas had actually confessed.  
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The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court because trial court expressly 

found that Mr. Jones could not present the defense that Nicholas Boer shot 

Trooper Johnson because there was an “absence of indicia of reliability to 

establish the trustworthiness of Peter Boer's recorded statements to Jones’ 

investigators.”  Slip Opinion at 17.  

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Even if the evidence does not fit neatly within an exception to the 

hearsay rules, a defendant has the right to present evidence that another man 

confessed to the crime for he is being tried. Chambers at 410 U.S. 284.   

The Chambers case is nearly identical to this one. In Chambers, Leon 

Chambers called a witness, Gable McDonald, who had previously confessed to 

the murder with which Chambers was charged. During cross-examination, the 

State elicited testimony indicating Mr. McDonald had repudiated his confession. 

Chambers sought to impeach Mr. McDonald on redirect or, in the alternative, 

offer three witnesses who would testify McDonald admitted the killing to them. 

Because of Mississippi’s “voucher rule,” Chambers was not permitted to 

impeach the witness whom he had called. Nor was he permitted to call the three 

witnesses to impeach McDonald’s testimony due to Mississippi’s hearsay rule. 

The Supreme Court found that the combination of the two Mississippi 

rules that prevented the defendant from introducing exculpatory evidence 

denied Chambers a fair trial. The Court held it was a denial of due process to 



 

5 

 

 

exclude hearsay statements that “bore persuasive assurances of trustworthiness” 

and were “critical to Chambers’ defense.” Chambers at 302. Each statement 

“was made spontaneously to a close acquaintance shortly after the murder had 

occurred,” “was corroborated by some other evidence in the case,” and “was in 

a very real sense self-incriminatory and unquestionably against interest.” Id. at 

299-302. 

Here, the Court of Appeals listed these factors but did not apply them to 

this case. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that “two key factors distinguish 

Chambers from Jones’s case.” Slip Opinion at 17. The Court said that in 

Chambers, unlike here, the defendant offered in-court testimony from witnesses 

to whom Mr. McDonald had confessed.2 And second, the reference hearing 

judge expressly found the other suspect evidence did not bear any “indicia of 

reliability.” This was error. These “factors” are not sufficient to 

distinguish Chambers. 

In Chambers, the Court set forth four factors to determine whether the 

other suspect’s confession was admissible: (1) whether the confession was made 

spontaneously to a close acquaintance shortly after the murder occurred; (2) 

                                                
 
2 This simply incorrect. Both Peter and Nicholas testified at the reference hearing. The fact that 
Peter claimed he no longer remember Nicholas’s confession and that Nicholas denied shooting 
Trooper Johnson do not negate the fact that Peter’s previous recorded statements were offered 
and admitted at the reference hearing.  
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whether each statement was supported by other evidence in the trial; (3) 

whether the confession was against the third party’s interest; and (4) whether 

the third party was present and could be cross-examined. 410 U.S. at 300–01. 

Correctly analyzed, the “key factors” are that Nicolas’s confession was 

made shortly after the crime to his brother, FF 18, CP 2280; the confession was 

clearly against Nicholas’ interest, Chambers at 300-01; and having discovered 

this new evidence, both Nicholas and Peter were and are available for a retrial. 

FF 39, RP 2282, FF 40, 2283.  

And the confession was supported by other evidence at trial and at the 

reference hearing, including the following:  

• Trooper Johnson made the following statements regarding how well he 

saw the man who shot him: “I got a good look at him”; “diligent 

attention”; “did not get a good look at the shooter”; “mostly saw a side 

profile.” These stipulated statements are at best inconsistent. On 

February 13, 2010, while Trooper Johnson was recuperating at OHSU, 

Portland police showed him a single photograph of a white male. 

Trooper Johnson indicated that he was not “100% sure” that this was 

the shooter but indicated that the picture resembled the shooter. Police 

later showed Trooper Johnson a sketch based on another witness’s 

description, and Trooper Johnson said the sketch did not look like the 

shooter. About an hour later, police showed Trooper Johnson a black-
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and-white, poor-quality copy of Mr. Jones’s Department of Licensing 

photo; Trooper Johnson requested a clearer copy. He was shown 

another photograph of a different man 45 minutes later. Three hours 

after that, police showed Trooper Johnson a montage with six photos, 

none of which was of Mr. Jones, and he responded that none of the men 

in the pictures was the shooter. The next day, police showed Trooper 

Johnson six different photos, none of which was of Mr. Jones. Trooper 

Johnson did not identify any as the shooter. 

• In Mr. Jones’s direct appeal, the Court found these procedures unduly  

suggestive even though it did not reverse on that basis. State v. Jones, 

175 Wn. App. at 108. 

• Nicholas and Peter Boer lived in the Long Beach area and sold drugs. 

Nick Boer had an uncanny resemblance to the person in the sketch 

produced from Trooper Johnson’s description of the person who shot 

him. As a result, the police interviewed Nick Boer as part of their 

investigation of the shooting but ultimately dismissed him as a suspect. 

CP 997-1005. 

• Mr. Jones had no criminal history, and the DNA evidence found at the 

scene did was not his. RP 3508-24.  

• Tow truck driver George Hill excluded Mr. Jones as the person he had 

seen. RP 1325-26, 1374-75, 1385, Ex. 76. Less than an hour after the 
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shooting, Mr. Hill described the shooter as a white male, 35-45, 5’10”-

5'11", 185-200 lbs., 1-2 days growth of facial hair, dark stocking cap, 

light tan VRP 2153-64. Still that night, Mr. Hill described the shooter 

with "Mediterranean features," with "olive skin “and "really flared 

nostrils." He was confident he could identify him if he saw him again. 

RP 1875-76, 1907-08. When shown Mr. Jones, a person he knew, he 

assured the police that was not the shooter.  

• Among about 250 tips, several people called the police tip line to report 

the sketch was Nicolas Boer. RP (7/31) 71-112.  

• The police excluded Nicolas Boer as a possible suspect based on his 

own statement the night after the shooting that he was at his mother's 

house the entire night of the shooting with his mother, his brother Peter, 

Peter's wife and child. Ex. 38. He assured the police any of those people 

would verify his alibi. Id. at 2-3; SR 230-31. Law enforcement did 

nothing to verify his claimed alibi. Nonetheless, based on Nick's 

statement alone, the police rejected other evidence suggesting he was the 

shooter.  

• Peter Boer acknowledged it was his signature on the two handwritten 

documents detailing Nicholas’s confession to him. 5/29/2019 RP 9-10.  

Further, the Court of Appeals was wrong when it concluded that Holmes 

v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2nd 503 (2006) had 
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no application here. Slip Opinion at 16, fn 4. Holmes was convicted of a rape 

murder and sentenced to death. The only evidence that connected him to the 

crime was forensic: a palm print, blood, and fiber evidence. Holmes claimed 

that the State's forensic evidence was planted and mishandled, and that the rape 

and murder were committed by another man, Jimmy McCaw White.  

At a pretrial hearing, three witnesses testified they saw White near the 

victim's house at about the time of the crime, and four others testified that they 

heard White admit his guilt. White testified at the hearing and denied he 

committed this crime or made the statements to which the defense witnesses had 

testified. The trial judge excluded all evidence about Jimmy White from 

Holmes's trial. The. Supreme Court, in a unanimous opinion, found the State 

violated Holmes's Sixth Amendment right to compulsory process, and his due 

process right to present a defense and reversed.  

Holmes is relevant here because it reiterates the point that, just because 

the prosecution's evidence, if credited, would provide strong support for a guilty 

verdict, it does not follow that evidence of third-party guilt has only a weak 

logical connection to the central issues in the case. The question of who is 

telling the truth, and who is lying is reserved for the trier of fact and not the trial 

judge. Id. at 330.  

Finally, “[t]he standard for relevance of other suspect evidence is 

whether there is evidence ‘tending to connect’ someone other than the defendant 
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with the crime.” State v. Franklin, 180 Wash. 2d 371,380, 325 P.3d 159 

(2014)at 381(quoting State v. Downs, 168 Wn. 664, 667, 13 P.2d 1 (1932)). 

Stated otherwise, “[S]ome combination of facts or circumstances must point to a 

nonspeculative link between the other suspect and the charged crime.” Id. This 

inquiry, properly conducted, focuses on whether the evidence offered creates a 

reasonable doubt about the defendant’s guilt, not whether it establishes the guilt 

of the third party beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.  

Based on the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing, a jury could 

conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Jones was not guilty. The jury 

could conclude that Nicholas Boer, a convicted felon, shot Trooper Johnson, 

and confessed to his brother. When his confession came to light, his brother 

backtracked, and he denied all involvement to avoid being charged with 

attempted murder.  

This Court should accept review because the application of the United 

States Supreme Court precedent in Holmes and Chambers and the correct 

implementation of the accused’s right to present a defense is a recurring one.  

The Constitution only “permits judges ‘to exclude evidence that is “repetitive ... 

only marginally relevant” or poses an undue risk of “harassment, prejudice, [or] 

confusion of the issues.” ’ ” Holmes at 326-27 (alterations in the original).  Yet 

the trial court’s continue to broadly exclude defense evidence without applying 

the correct standard.  See e.g. State v. Wright, 2021 WL 3485469, at *16 (2021); 
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State v. Markovich, 2021 WL 3284906, at *3 (2021); State v. Whicker, 2021 

WL 2313420, at *3 (2021); State v. Carballo, 17 Wn. App. 2d 337, 486 P.3d 

142 (2021); State v. Cox, 17 Wn. App. 2d 178, 182, 484 P.3d 529 (2021).  

VI. CONCLUSION 

 This Court should grant review.  

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 23rd day of August 2020. 

    /s/Suzanne Lee Elliott 

    Suzanne Lee Elliott, WSBA #12634 
    Attorney for Martin Jones  
 
 

  
 



 

 

 

 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 

DIVISION II 
 

In the Matter of the Personal Restraint of No. 54640-0-II 

  

  

MARTIN ARTHUR JONES, UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

  

    Petitioner.  

  

 

 MAXA, J. – Martin Jones appeals the superior court’s denial of his personal restraint 

petition (PRP) following an evidentiary hearing ordered by this court. 

 In 2011, a jury found Jones guilty of first degree attempted murder for the shooting of a 

Washington State Patrol trooper.  Subsequently, Jones’s investigator procured statements from a 

man who claimed that his brother admitted to shooting the trooper.  After his direct appeal was 

final, Jones filed a timely PRP, alleging that his restraint was unlawful under RAP 16.4(c)(3) 

based on newly discovered evidence.  This court transferred his PRP to the superior court under 

RAP 16.11(b) for an evidentiary hearing and a determination on the merits.  After an evidentiary 

hearing, the superior court denied Jones’s PRP. 

 Jones argues that the superior court erred in concluding that the statements identifying 

another potential suspect were inadmissible hearsay and therefore did not support granting relief 

to Jones under RAP 16.4(c)(3).  He also claims that if the statements did constitute hearsay, 

excluding them violated his constitutional right to present a defense. 

Filed 

Washington State 

Court of Appeals 

Division Two 

 

July 27, 2021 
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We hold that the superior court did not err in making its hearsay ruling and in ruling that 

Jones’s offered evidence did not meet the test for newly discovered evidence under RAP 

16.4(c)(3).  In addition, we reject Jones’s right to present a defense claim.  Accordingly, we 

affirm the denial of Jones’s PRP. 

FACTS 

Background 

 In 2010, Washington State Patrol trooper Jessee Greene pulled over a minivan driven by 

Jones’s wife, Susan Jones, for speeding.  Greene believed Susan1 was intoxicated.  Washington 

State Patrol trooper Scott Johnson arrived as backup.  Greene arrested Susan for driving under 

the influence.  Shortly after being placed into custody, Susan texted Jones and informed him of 

her arrest. 

 Greene transported Susan to jail while Johnson stayed with the minivan.  George Hill, 

owner of Hill Auto Body & Towing, arrived on the scene.  Hill and Johnson were standing near 

the van when a person approached.  This person was visibly agitated and spoke to Hill, asking 

him what he was doing.  Hill stated that he was preparing the vehicle for towing.  As the person 

began walking away, Johnson asked if he needed help with anything.  The person responded that 

he did not need help and continued walking away. 

 A person later grabbed Johnson from behind and shot him in the back of the head.  

Johnson, still conscious, made eye contact with the man who had shot him and returned fire.  Hill 

also gave chase, but the man fired at him.  Johnson watched the shooter flee. 

                                                
1  Other than the appellant, we refer to individuals with the same last name by their first names to 

avoid confusion.  We intend no disrespect. 
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 At the scene, investigating officers found one .22 shell casing where Johnson had been 

shot.  A K–9 dog tracked a scent from the shooting scene to near Jones’s house.  Police later 

arrested Jones and obtained a warrant for his house.  Inside the house, officers located a box of 

.22 caliber ammunition that matched the .22 shell casing found at the scene of Johnson’s 

shooting. 

 Johnson identified Jones as the shooter after seeing a photograph of him.  Jones claimed 

that he was asleep at the time of the shooting, but officers were able to obtain phone records 

showing he was using his phone at the time he claimed to be asleep.  The State charged Jones 

with attempted first degree murder. 

Trial and Appeal Proceedings 

 In 2011, a jury found Jones guilty as charged.  He appealed, arguing that his 

constitutional right to a public trial was violated.  State v. Jones, 175 Wn. App. 87, 91, 303 P.3d 

1084 (2013), aff’d in part, rev’d in part, 185 Wn.2d 412 (2016).  This court agreed and ordered a 

new trial.  Id. at 104.  The Supreme Court accepted review, affirmed in part and reversed in part, 

and reinstated Jones’s conviction.  State v. Jones, 185 Wn.2d 412, 428, 372 P.3d 755 (2016). 

PRP Proceeding 

 In 2017, Jones timely filed a PRP, arguing among other things that there was newly 

discovered evidence that pointed to another person as the perpetrator.  Jones’s PRP was based on 

two handwritten statements and one recorded statement from Peter Boer in 2014 in which he 

claimed that on the night of the shooting, his brother, Nicholas Boer, stated that he had shot 

Johnson. 

 This court transferred the PRP to the superior court under RAP 16.11 and 16.12 for an 

evidentiary hearing and a determination on the merits.  Relevant to this appeal, this court 



No. 54640-0-II 

4 

specifically asked the superior court to decide whether statements from Peter that his brother 

confessed to shooting Johnson constituted newly discovered evidence, requiring vacation of 

Jones’s conviction and a new trial.2 

Evidentiary Hearing 

 The superior court held an evidentiary hearing.  Jones presented evidence that while 

investigating the shooting, police compiled a sketch of the perpetrator.  Neither Hill nor Johnson 

believed the sketch was an accurate depiction of the suspect, but police disseminated the sketch 

to the public.  Several citizens reported that the sketch looked like several different men, 

including Nicholas and Peter.  Police investigated the brothers but did not believe either was the 

shooter.  Nicholas told officers that he was at his mother’s house at the time of the shooting.  The 

State disclosed this information to Jones before his trial. 

 The three statements referenced in Jones’s PRP were submitted to the court for 

consideration.  These statements were procured by Greg Gilbertson, an investigator hired by the 

Jones family. 

 First, in a handwritten statement Peter signed on August 18, 2014, Peter stated that on the 

night of the shooting an acquaintance said that he had heard that Nicholas and Peter had shot the 

trooper.  Peter stated that Nicholas “smiled and laughed and stated yep I shot that guy.  I am the 

one that does all the bad shit in this town.”  Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 2099. 

                                                
2  This court also directed the superior court to consider whether Jones presented newly 

discovered evidence regarding alleged false evidence from the State, the withholding of material 

exculpatory evidence, and a report from the President’s Counsel of Advisors on Science and 

Technology on forensic science.  The superior court concluded that Jones failed to demonstrate 

these allegations amount to newly discovered evidence, and Jones does not appeal the court’s 

determination. 
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 Second, in a handwritten statement Peter signed on August 25, 2014 Peter stated that on 

the night of the shooting he asked whether Nicholas had shot the trooper and Nicholas did not 

answer.  But Peter stated that later that night Nicholas “boasted that he had shot the cop.”  CP at 

2103.  Nicholas also asked Peter to get rid of some gun pieces and parts for him, which Peter did.  

 Third, Peter had a long interview with Gilbertson on August 29, 2014 before a court 

reporter.  In that interview, Peter stated that he asked Nicholas whether he really had shot the 

trooper.  Nicholas responded, “[Y]ah, I do all the bad shit around here.”  CP at 2135.  Nicholas 

then asked Peter to dump some gun parts. 

 However, in an October 20, 2014 letter to Gilbertson, Peter stated that Nicholas never 

told him that he shot the trooper and that he never saw a gun that fit the description of the 

weapon used in the shooting. 

 At the hearing, the State offered evidence that shortly after Peter gave his 2014 

statements, Gilbertson had put money in Peter’s prison account.  Peter testified that “this dude 

showed up and gave me money and I made statements.”  Report of Proceedings (RP) (May 29, 

2019) at 104. 

 The State also submitted a recorded interview that Peter gave to Jones’s attorney Lenell 

Nussbaum and new investigator Winthrop Taylor on March 27, 2017, in which Peter made 

statements inconsistent with his prior statements made to Gilbertson.  In that interview Peter said 

that Nicholas was joking when he allegedly admitted shooting the trooper.  Finally, the State 

offered an April 3, 2017 letter that Peter wrote to Nussbaum, telling her that when Gilbertson 

visited him in 2014 Gilbertson was “not looking for the truth,” and that Gilbertson “paid me 

money . . . and when that didn’t work, he intimidated me into making statements that did not 

reflect actual events, but rather suited his needs.”  CP at 2445. 
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 Peter testified at the hearing that he had no recollection of claiming Nicholas made 

statements regarding the shooting.  When asked if he told the truth in 2014, Peter said 

“Absolutely not.  I - - in those times I do remember being a stone cold addict that would do 

anything - - my motto was I’ll do anything for 50 bucks, anything.”  RP (May 29, 2019) at 105.  

Peter also testified that he sustained a serious injury in 2004, which led to memory loss. 

 Peter’s friend, Gregory McLeod, testified that Peter told him he overheard Nicholas claim 

he shot Johnson. 

 Nicholas also testified at the evidentiary hearing.  He denied shooting Johnson or making 

a statement that he shot him.  Nicholas also provided a DNA sample.  The Washington State 

Patrol Crime Lab compared Nicholas’s DNA to unknown human DNA obtained from Johnson’s 

clothing and cigarette butts collected at the crime scene.  Nicholas’s DNA did not match the 

DNA found on those items. 

Superior Court’s Decision on the Merits 

 Following the evidentiary hearing, the superior court entered written findings of fact and 

conclusions of law. 

 Jones challenges the following findings of fact: 

8. Peter Boer was high on drugs the night that Trooper Johnson was shot on 

February 10, 2010 and he does not have an accurate memory of that evening. 

. . . 

 

32. Peter Boer testified and disavowed statements he gave to Jones’s investigators 

in 2014 that attributed statements to Nicholas Boer.  Peter Boer testified he had no 

memory of making such statements, that others provided him with information 

regarding the night of the shooting, and that any statement he gave to Jones’ 

investigators in 2014 were likely false.  

 

33. The recording process employed when Peter Boer gave recorded statements to 

Jones’ investigators in 2014 was not reliable. 
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34. Peter Boer’s 2014 recorded statements to Jones’ investigators were not taken 

by detached and neutral persons and were not taken in a detached and neutral 

manner. 

 

35. The court finds an absence of indicia of reliability to establish the 

trustworthiness of Peter Boer’s recorded statements to Jones’ investigators. 

 

36. Peter Boer’s statements to Jones’ investigators are not credible. 

 

CP at 2779, 2782. 

 The superior court concluded that all of the out-of-court statements Peter made regarding 

Nicholas shooting the trooper were inadmissible hearsay.  Specifically, the court ruled that (1) 

Peter’s statements were not admissible under the hearsay exception in ER 803(a)(5) for recorded 

recollection; and (2) Nicholas’s statements to Peter were not admissible under the hearsay 

exceptions in ER 804 (b)(3) for statements against interest, in ER 803(a)(3) to show Peter’s state 

of mind, and in ER 801(d)(2)(v) for statements of a coconspirator.  Because Peter’s out-of-court 

statements were inadmissible, the court concluded that Jones failed to prove that the new 

evidence would have changed the result of the 2011 trial. 

 The superior court also concluded that Jones had failed to prove that Peter’s out-of-court 

statements could not have been discovered before trial in the exercise of due diligence.  The 

court pointed out that defense counsel possessed discovery identifying both Nicholas and Peter 

as possible suspects, and could have investigated and interviewed them at that time. 

 The superior court entered an order dismissing Jones’s PRP.  Jones appeals the court’s 

order. 

ANALYSIS 

A. PRP PRINCIPLES 

 A PRP is not a substitute for a direct appeal, and the availability of collateral relief is 

limited.  In re Pers. Restraint of  Dove, 196 Wn. App. 148, 153, 381 P.3d 1280 (2016).  For 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2004112608&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I3395ef00852f11e68bf9cabfb8a03530&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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matters outside the existing record, the petitioner must demonstrate that he has competent, 

admissible evidence based on more than inadmissible hearsay to establish the facts that entitle 

him to relief.  In re Pers. Restraint of Yates, 177 Wn.2d 1, 18, 296 P.3d 872 (2013). 

 RAP 16.4(a) states that a petitioner can obtain relief only if his or her restraint is unlawful 

for one of the reasons stated in RAP 16.4(c).  Under RAP 16.4(c)(3), a restraint is unlawful for 

the following reason: 

Material facts exist which have not been previously presented and heard, which in 

the interest of justice require vacation of the conviction, sentence, or other order 

entered in a criminal proceeding or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local 

government. 

 

This provision applies to newly discovered evidence.  In re Pers. Restraint of Lui, 188 Wn.2d 

525, 569, 397 P.3d 90 (2017). 

 When a PRP is filed with an appellate court and cannot be determined solely on the 

record, the appellate court may transfer the PRP to the superior court for a determination on the 

merits.  RAP 16.11(b).  RAP 16.12 provides the procedures for an evidentiary hearing in the 

superior court.  “Upon the conclusion of the hearing if the case has been transferred for a 

determination on the merits, the superior court shall enter findings of fact and conclusions of law 

and an order deciding the petition.”  RAP 16.12. 

 Jones suggests that the rules of evidence do not apply to PRP evidentiary hearings.  

However, RAP 16.12 expressly states that the rules of evidence apply. 

 RAP 16.14(b) provides that a superior court’s decision in a PRP transferred to the court 

for a determination on the merits will be “subject to review in the same manner and under the 

same procedure as any other trial court decision.” 

 

 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2030143027&pubNum=0000804&originatingDoc=I94c03ff0d14411eab502f8a91db8f87a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_804_18&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_804_18
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B. RELIEF UNDER RAP 16.4(C)(3) 

 Jones argues that he is entitled to relief under RAP 16.4(c)(3) based on Peter’s out-of-

court statements regarding Nicholas’s admission that he shot trooper Johnson.3  We disagree. 

 1.     Legal Principles 

 To prevail on a claim of newly discovered evidence under RAP 16.4(c)(3), the defendant 

must show evidence that “ ‘(1) will probably change the result of the trial, (2) was discovered 

since the trial, (3) could not have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence, 

(4) is material, and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.’ ”  Lui, 188 Wn.2d at 569 

(quoting In re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 319-20, 868 P.2d 835 (1994)). 

 2.     Change the Result of Trial 

 Jones argues that Peter’s statements regarding Nicholas’s admission that he shot trooper 

Johnson probably would change the trial result.  He claims that the superior court erred in 

concluding that Peter’s statements were inadmissible hearsay that were not subject to certain 

hearsay exceptions.  We disagree. 

         a.     Hearsay Principles 

 Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted.  ER 

801(c).  The general rule is that hearsay is inadmissible unless one of the exceptions listed in ER 

803 and 804 applies.  State v. Heutink, 12 Wn. App. 2d 336, 356, 458 P.3d 796, review denied, 

195 Wn.2d 1027 (2020); see ER 802. 

 An out-of-court statement that repeats another out-of-court statement constitutes hearsay 

within hearsay or double hearsay.  State v. Alvarez-Abrego, 154 Wn. App. 351, 366, 225 P.3d 

                                                
3  Jones assigns error to several findings of fact.  He does not present argument regarding specific 

findings of fact; his challenges are incorporated into his arguments on various issues.  Therefore, 

we do not address each finding of fact individually. 
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396 (2010).  Hearsay within hearsay is admissible only if each of the hearsay statements is 

subject to one of the hearsay exceptions.  ER 805. 

 We review de novo a trial court’s interpretation of the evidentiary rules and we review 

the court’s application of the rules for abuse of discretion.  State v. Rushworth, 12 Wn. App. 2d 

466, 470, 458 P.3d 1192 (2020).  Jones raises issues regarding the application of the rules of 

evidence to his offered evidence.  Therefore, we review his contentions for an abuse of 

discretion. 

 Here, there is no question that Peter’s out-of-court statements in which he claimed that 

Nicholas admitted to shooting trooper Johnson constituted hearsay: they were out-of-court 

statements offered for the proof of the matter asserted.  See ER 801(c).  In addition, Nicholas’s 

alleged out-of-court statements that Peter was repeating constituted double hearsay.  Therefore, 

Peter’s statements would be admissible only if a hearsay exception applies to his statements and 

a hearsay exception also applies to Nicholas’s statements.  See ER 805. 

         b.     ER 803(a)(5) – Recorded Recollection 

 Jones argues that Peter’s statements would be admissible as a recorded recollection under 

ER 803(a)(5).  We disagree. 

ER 803(a)(5) provides a hearsay exception for: 

 

A memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness once had 

knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify 

fully and accurately, shown to have been made or adopted by the witness when the 

matter was fresh in the witness’ memory and to reflect that knowledge correctly. 

 

Two of the requirements are relevant here: that the record was made when the matter was fresh 

in the witness’s memory and that the record reflects the witness’s knowledge correctly. 

 Regarding freshness, the superior court made a specific finding that Peter did not make 

the statements at issue when they were fresh in his memory.  Instead, they were made 4 ½ years 
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after Nicholas’s alleged admissions.  Jones does not challenge this finding, which is supported by 

uncontested evidence. 

When examining whether a statement accurately reflects the witness’s prior knowledge, 

the superior court looks at the totality of the circumstances, which includes “ ‘(1) whether the 

witness disavows accuracy; (2) whether the witness averred accuracy at the time of making the 

statement; (3) whether the recording process is reliable; and (4) whether other indicia of 

reliability establish the trustworthiness of the statement.’ ”  State v. Nava, 177 Wn. App. 272, 

291, 311 P.3d 83 (2013) (quoting State v. Alvarado, 89 Wn. App. 543, 552, 949 P.2d 831 

(1998)). 

 Here, the superior court made express findings of fact that Peter disavowed his prior 

statements, the recording process was not reliable, and there was an absence of indicia of 

reliability to establish the trustworthiness of Peter’s statements.  We conclude that substantial 

evidence supports these findings. 

 The record supports a finding that Peter’s out-of-court statements do not accurately 

reflect his prior knowledge.  Peter specifically testified at the evidentiary hearing that Nicholas 

did not confess to shooting trooper Johnson.  And he disavowed his statement that Nicolas 

admitted to the shooting in a letter he sent to Gilbertson shortly after his third statement.  

Moreover, Peter characterized his interview with Gilbertson as “this dude showed up and gave 

me money and I made statements.”  RP (May 29, 2019) at 104.  Peter also wrote a letter to 

Jones’s defense attorney and told her that when Gilbertson visited him in 2014, he was “not 

looking for the truth,” and that Gilbertson “paid me money . . . and when that didn’t work, he 

intimidated me into making statements that did not reflect actual events, but rather suited his 

needs.”  CP at 2445. 
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 Jones relies on two cases in which ER 803(a)(5) was found applicable when the declarant 

could not recall giving the statement:  State v. Derouin, 116 Wn. App. 38, 46-47, 64 P.3d 35 

(2003) and Alvarado, 89 Wn. App. at 552.  Although Peter did say that he could not recall 

making the statements, there was much more evidence in this case compared to those cases that 

called into question the reliability of the statements. 

 Jones also claims that McLeod’s testimony that Peter told him that he heard Nicholas 

admit to shooting trooper Johnson corroborated Peter’s statements.  But McLeod’s testimony is 

inadmissible double hearsay.  In any event, this testimony is not enough to overcome the other 

evidence showing that Peter’s statements were not reliable. 

 Based on the totality of the circumstances, we conclude that ER 803(a)(5) is inapplicable 

to Peter’s out-of-court statements and that the superior court did not err in declining to apply this 

hearsay exception. 

         c.     ER 801(d)(2)(v) – Statements of Coconspirator 

 Jones argues that Peter’s and Nicholas’s statements would be admissible as statements by 

coconspirators under ER 801(d)(2)(v).  We disagree. 

 ER 801(d)(2)(v) provides that a statement is not hearsay if it is “offered against a party” 

and is “a statement by a coconspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the 

conspiracy.”  Peter’s and Nicholas’s statements were not offered against a party by a 

coconspirator of a party in furtherance of a conspiracy.  Jones is the only party to this action, and 

Peter and Nicholas were not coconspirators with Jones.  Accordingly, we hold that ER 

801(d)(2)(v) is inapplicable to Peter’s and Nicholas’s out-of-court statements and that the 

superior court did not err in declining to apply this provision. 
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        d.     ER 803(a)(3) – State of Mind 

 Jones argues that Nicholas’s alleged statements would be admissible under ER 803(a)(3) 

to show Peter’s state of mind.  We disagree. 

 ER 803(a)(3) provides a hearsay exception for “[a] statement of the declarant’s then 

existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, 

design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health), but not including a statement of memory or 

belief to prove the fact remembered or believed.”  The word “then” in the phrase “then existing” 

refers to the time the statement was made, not the time of the events described in the statement.  

State v. Sanchez-Guillen, 135 Wn. App. 636, 646, 145 P.3d 406 (2006).  In addition, “[t]he 

hearsay exception includes only statements describing the declarant’s own emotions or feelings.”  

5C KARL B. TEGLAND, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: EVIDENCE LAW AND PRACTICE § 803.10 (6th ed. 

2016). 

 Jones argues that the state of mind hearsay exception applies because Nicholas’s 

statements caused Peter to believe that Nicholas shot trooper Johnson and as a result got rid of 

gun parts from Nicholas.  But Peter’s state of mind on the night of the shooting is irrelevant 

under ER 803(a)(3).  That exception applies only if the statement reveals the declarant’s state of 

mind at the time the statement was made.  Sanchez-Guillen, 135 Wn. App. at 646.  And 

Nicholas’s statements clearly do not relate to his emotions or feelings. 

 We conclude that ER 803(a)(3) is inapplicable to Nicholas’s out-of-court statements and 

that the superior court did not err in declining to apply this hearsay exception. 

         e.     Summary 

 No hearsay exception applies to Peter’s out-of-court statements, the focus of Jones’s 

PRP.  In addition, no hearsay exception applies to the double hearsay: Nicholas’s out-of-court 
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statements repeated in Peter’s statements.  Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not err in 

ruling that Peter’s statements were inadmissible and as a result would not have changed the 

result at trial. 

 3.     Discoverable by Exercise of Due Diligence 

 The superior court also concluded that Jones was not entitled to relief under the third 

requirement of RAP 16.4(c)(3) because Jones did not prove that Peter’s statements could not 

have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence.  Jones argues that this 

conclusion was error.  We disagree. 

 To be considered newly discovered evidence, a petitioner must show the evidence “could 

not have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence.”  Lui, 188 Wn.2d at 569.  

Here, the unchallenged findings of fact show that police investigated Peter and Nicholas and 

disclosed the information to Jones prior to trial.  This finding supports the superior court’s 

conclusion that Jones could have discovered evidence regarding Peter and Nicholas before trial 

with due diligence.  Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not err in ruling that Jones did not 

satisfy this requirement for newly discovered evidence. 

C. RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE 

 Jones argues that even if Peter’s and Nicholas’s statements constitute hearsay, the 

constitutional right to present a defense should outweigh the evidentiary rules in this case.  We 

disagree. 

 1.     Legal Principles 

 A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to present a defense.  State v. Jones, 168 

Wn.2d 713, 719-20, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).  This right to present a defense derives from the Sixth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000571&cite=WACNART1S22&originatingDoc=Ie4f881309d5e11ebbbbbabec583fa227&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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Constitution.  State v. Wade, 186 Wn. App. 749, 763, 346 P.3d 838 (2015).  There also is a 

fundamental due process right to present a defense under the Fourteenth Amendment.  State v. 

Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. 530, 551-52, 364 P.3d 810 (2015). 

However, a defendant’s right to present a defense is not absolute.  State v. Arndt, 194 

Wn.2d 784, 812, 453 P.3d 696 (2019).  That right is subject to “ ‘established rules of procedure 

and evidence.’ ”  Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. at 553 (quoting Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 

284, 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973)).  A defendant does not have “an unfettered 

right to offer [evidence] that is . . . inadmissible under standard rules of evidence.”  Taylor v. 

Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988). 

 Our Supreme Court has developed a two-step process when addressing evidentiary 

rulings and the right to present a defense.  Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 797-98.  First, the challenged 

evidentiary rulings are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.  Id. at 797. Then the 

rulings are reviewed de novo to determine whether they violated a defendant’s constitutional 

right to present a defense.  Id. at 797-98.  In evaluating whether the exclusion of evidence 

violates the defendant’s constitutional right to present a defense, “the State’s interest in 

excluding evidence must be balanced against the defendant’s need for the information sought to 

be admitted.”  Id. at 812.  In some cases involving evidence with high probative value, there may 

be no state interest compelling enough to exclude the evidence.  Id. 

 2.     Analysis 

 In Lizarraga, the court held that the trial court did not violate the defendant’s right to 

present a defense by excluding a hearsay statement.  191 Wn. App. at 558.  The court 

emphasized that “the hearsay rule has ‘long been recognized and respected by virtually every 

State’ and ‘is based on experience and grounded in the notion that untrustworthy evidence should 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000571&cite=WACNART1S22&originatingDoc=Ie4f881309d5e11ebbbbbabec583fa227&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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not be presented to the triers of fact.’ ” Id. (quoting Chambers, 410 U.S. at 298).  The court also 

noted that “allowing inadmissible hearsay testimony ‘places the [witness’s] version of the facts 

before the jury without subjecting the [witness] to cross-examination,’ depriving the State ‘of the 

benefit of testing the credibility of the statements’ and denying the jury ‘an objective basis for 

weighing the probative value of the evidence.’ ”  Id. (quoting State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 

825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)). 

 Jones argues that because Peter’s statements have high probative value, Jones’s need for 

the evidence outweighs the State’s interest in applying the rules of evidence.  He relies on 

Chambers, a United States Supreme Court case.  In Chambers, the Court held that a state trial 

court violated the due process rights of a defendant charged with murder when it (1) refused to 

allow the defendant to cross-examine a witness named McDonald regarding his sworn 

confession to the crime, and (2) excluded on hearsay grounds the testimony of three persons who 

stated that McDonald had confessed to the crime.  410 U.S. at 302-03.4 

 Regarding the hearsay testimony, the Court emphasized that the circumstances “provided 

considerable assurance of [the] reliability” of McDonald’s confessions.  Id. at 300.  First, the 

confessions were made spontaneously to close acquaintances shortly after the murder.  Id.  

Second, the confessions were corroborated by an eyewitness who testified that McDonald shot 

the victim, testimony that McDonald had a gun immediately after the shooting, and proof that 

McDonald owned the type of gun used in the shooting.  Id.  Third, the confessions clearly were 

                                                
4  Jones also cites to Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 

(2006), another case in which the Court held that application of an evidence rule violated the 

defendant’s right to present a defense.  However, the facts of that case are not analogous to 

Jones’s case. 
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self-incriminatory and against McDonald’s interest.  Id. at 301.  Fourth, McDonald was present 

at trial and could have been examined under oath about the confessions.  Id. 

 The Court concluded: 

The testimony rejected by the trial court here bore persuasive assurances of 

trustworthiness and thus was well within the basic rationale of the exception for 

declarations against interest.  That testimony also was critical to Chambers’ 

defense.  In these circumstances, where constitutional rights directly affecting the 

ascertainment of guilt are implicated, the hearsay rule may not be applied 

mechanistically to defeat the ends of justice. 

 

We conclude that the exclusion of this critical evidence, coupled with the State’s 

refusal to permit Chambers to cross-examine McDonald, denied him a trial in 

accord with traditional and fundamental standards of due process.  In reaching this 

judgment, we establish no new principles of constitutional law.  Nor does our 

holding signal any diminution in the respect traditionally accorded to the States in 

the establishment and implementation of their own criminal trial rules and 

procedures.  Rather, we hold quite simply that under the facts and circumstances of 

this case the rulings of the trial court deprived Chambers of a fair trial. 

 

Id. at 302-03. 

 Two keys facts distinguish Chambers from Jones’s case.  First, in Chambers the 

defendant offered in-court testimony from witnesses to whom McDonald had confessed.  Id. at 

292-93.  Here, Peter denied at the hearing that Nicholas admitted that he had shot the trooper, 

and Jones relied entirely on his contrary double hearsay statements. 

 Second, a key aspect of the holding in Chambers was that the excluded testimony “bore 

persuasive assurances of trustworthiness.”  Id. at 302.  Here, the trial court expressly found an 

“absence of indicia of reliability to establish the trustworthiness of Peter Boer’s recorded 

statements to Jones’ investigators.”  CP at 2782. 

 In addition, the Court in Chambers made it clear that its holding was based on the 

specific facts and circumstances of that case.  410 U.S. at 302-03.  We agree that under 
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Chambers there may be cases where the right to present a defense outweighs the application of 

hearsay rules.  But the facts and circumstances here do not compel that result. 

 We conclude that the superior court’s determination that Peter’s statements constituted 

inadmissible hearsay did not violate Jones’s constitutional right to present a defense. 

CONCLUSION 

 We affirm the superior court’s denial of Jones’s PRP. 

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

  

 MAXA, J. 

 

 

We concur: 

 

  

LEE, C.J.  

SUTTON, J.  

 

-~J. ,----

~ 1_G._1. ___ _ 

94~+-hMrJ:---· ----



DECLARATION OF FILING AND MAILING  OR DELIVERY 
 

The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State 
of Washington that on the below date, the original document Motion for 
Discretionary Review to the Supreme Court to which this declaration is 
affixed/attached, was filed in the Court of Appeals under Case No. 54640-0-
II, and a true copy was mailed with first-class postage prepaid or  otherwise 
caused to be delivered to the following attorney(s) or party/parties of record at 
their regular office / residence / e-mail address as listed on ACORDS / WSBA 
website: 
 
 

  respondent Melanie Tratnik, AAG  
 [melanie.tratnik@atg.wa.gov] 
 [crjsvpef@atg.wa.gov]  

Office of the Attorney General – Criminal Justice Division 
  

  petitioner 
 

  Attorney for other party  
 

   
 MARIA ANA ARRANZA RILEY, Legal Assistant    Date: August 23, 2021 
Washington Appellate Project 

~ 

• 



WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT

August 23, 2021 - 4:08 PM

Filing Motion for Discretionary Review of Court of Appeals

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court
Appellate Court Case Number:   Case Initiation
Appellate Court Case Title: Personal Restraint Petition of Martin A. Jones (546400)

The following documents have been uploaded:

DCA_Motion_Discretionary_Rvw_of_COA_20210823160837SC642229_6126.pdf 
    This File Contains: 
     Motion for Discretionary Review of Court of Appeals 
     The Original File Name was washapp.082321-04.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

CRJSeaEF@atg.wa.gov
crjsvpef@atg.wa.gov
karim@suzanneelliottlaw.com
melanie.tratnik@atg.wa.gov

Comments:

Sender Name: MARIA RILEY - Email: maria@washapp.org 
    Filing on Behalf of: Suzanne Lee Elliott - Email: suzanne@washapp.org (Alternate Email:
wapofficemail@washapp.org)

Address: 
1511 3RD AVE STE 610 
SEATTLE, WA, 98101 
Phone: (206) 587-2711

Note: The Filing Id is 20210823160837SC642229

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 


	JONES-MDR-SC
	Jones, Martin MDR final 8.23.21
	table of authorities
	I. Identity of petitioner and Court of Appeals Decision
	iI. Introduction
	III. issues presented for review
	Iv. statement of the case
	v. argument why review should be accepted
	VI. CONCLUSION

	546400_OPINION

	PROOF OF SERVICE supreme PFR II AG-CJD
	DECLARATION OF FILING AND MAILING  OR DELIVERY
	The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that on the below date, the original document Motion for Discretionary Review to the Supreme Court to which this declaration is affixed/attached, was filed in...
	respondent Melanie Tratnik, AAG
	Office of the Attorney General – Criminal Justice Division
	petitioner
	Attorney for other party


